
NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETING 
CITY OF MILLERSBURG 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
Tuesday, May 21st, 2019 

6:00 p.m. 

Agenda 

A. CALL TO ORDER

B. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

C. ROLL CALL

D. MEETING MINUTE APPROVAL
1) Planning Commission Meeting held on:

i. April 16th 2019 Planning Commission Hearing
ii. April 22nd 2019 Planning Commission Hearing
iii. April 29th 2019 Planning Commission Work Session
iv. May 13th 2019 Planning Commission Work Session

E. OLD BUSINESS
1) Continued Planning Applications CUP 19-01 and SP 19-01

F. CITY PLANNER UPDATE

G. ADJOURNMENT

Upcoming Meeting: 
May 28th, 2019 @ 5:00 p.m. – Planning Commission Workshop 
June 18th, 2019 @ 6:00 p.m. – Planning Commission Meeting 

Rules of Conduct for Public Hearings 

1. No person shall be disorderly, abusive, or disruptive of the orderly
conduct of the hearing.

2. Persons shall not testify without first receiving recognition from the
presiding officer and stating their full name and residence address.

3. No person shall present irrelevant, immaterial, or repetitious testimony
or evidence.

4. There shall be no audience demonstrations such as applause,
cheering, display of signs, or other conduct disruptive of the hearing.





 
 
 
 

CITY OF MILLERSBURG 
PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

4222 NE Old Salem Road 
Tuesday, April 16, 2019 

6:00 p.m. 
 

Minutes 
 

A. CALL TO ORDER: Commission President Jimmie Kirkendall called the meeting to order at 
6:00 pm. 
 

B. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

C. ROLL CALL:  
Members Present:  Jimmy Kirkendall, Steve Vogler, Dennis Gunner 
 John Sullivan, Connie Lepin, Anne Peltier, and Ed Perlenfein  
Members Absent:  Ryan Penning and Scott Stimpson 
Staff Present: Jake Gabell, Deputy City Recorder; Matt Straite, City Planner; Forrest 

Reid, City Attorney; Kevin Kreitman, City Manager; and Janelle 
Booth, Assistant City Manager/City Engineer 

 
D. MEETING MINUTE APPROVAL 

1) Planning Commission Meetings held on: 
i. February 19th Planning Commission Hearing 
ii. March 11th Planning Commission Hearing 

1. Updates noted by Commissioner Lepin 
 

Action:  Motion to Accept Minutes as presented made by Commissioner Vogler; 
seconded by Commissioner Sullivan. 
Corrections provided by Commissioner Lepin and noted in the record. 
Commissioner Kirkendall: Aye 
Commissioner Gunner: Aye 
Commissioner Vogler: Aye 
Commissioner Lepin: Aye 
Commissioner Sullivan: Aye 
Commissioner Perlenfein: Aye 
Commissioner Peltier: Aye 

 
E. QUASI-JUDICIAL PUBLIC HEARING 
 

1) Public hearing on Land Use File PA 19-02 opened by President Kirkendall at 6:03 p.m. 
Deputy City Recorder, Jake Gabell, read disclosures. President Kirkendall finished 
opening the hearing. 

 
i. Commissioner Vogler declared site contact; he drove by the property. 

 
  



 
File No: PA 19-02 Weddle Land Partition 
The applicant is requesting approval to partition a 2.94-acre lot into two lots of 
approximately 2.5 acres and .44 acres. 

i. Staff report was presented by Matt Straite, City Planner.  A memo was 
handed out by Mr. Straite and added to the record. 

ii. Discussion between the Planning Commission, staff, and audience 
members.  

1. The applicant, Scott Weddle, explained his reasoning for the site 
plan as it was first presented to staff. He had an additional question 
about the drainage requirement in a condition of approval. 

iii. Public hearing closed at 6:14 pm by President Kirkendall. 
iv. Deliberation by the Planning Commission.  

1. Commissioner Lepin had an additional questions about access 
easements and a potential public road in the future with further 
development. 
 

ACTION 
The following Motion was made by Commissioner Perlenfein: 
Based upon the findings of fact, any testimony, the conditions of approval, the 
memo from staff dated April 16, 2019, and staff recommendations listed in the staff 
report and because the proposed project satisfies the applicable criteria, I motion 
for the adoption of the findings from the staff report dated April 9, 2019, and further 
Motion that the Planning Commission approve Partition Application No. PA 19-02, 
Weddle Partition, pursuant to the conditions of approval listed in the staff report.   
 
A seconded was given by Commissioner Peltier. 
Commissioner Kirkendall: Aye 
Commissioner Gunner: Aye 
Commissioner Vogler: Aye 
Commissioner Lepin: Aye 
Commissioner Sullivan: Aye 
Commissioner Perlenfein: Aye 
Commissioner Peltier: Aye 

 
2) Public hearing on Land Use File PA 19-04 opened by President Kirkendall at 6:19 p.m. 

Deputy City Recorder, Jake Gabell, read disclosures. President Kirkendall finished 
opening the hearing. 

 
i. Commissioner Vogler declared site contact; he drove by the property. 

 
File No: PA 19-04 Lambrecht Land Partition: 
The applicant is requesting approval to partition a 7.61-acre lot into three lots of 
approximately 1.73 acres, 5.36 acres, and .52 acres. 
 

i. Staff report was presented by City Planner Matt Straite.  
ii. Discussion between the Planning Commission, staff, and audience 

members.  
1. Commissioner Vogler asked Mr. Straite for clarification on the road 

plan.  
2. The Applicant’s engineer, Jason Coda of 267 NW Hickory St, 

summarized the project to the Commission. He stated that the 
Applicant does not expect to develop parcel 2 in the near future, 
and proposes that parcel 3 will be developed with a single family 



 
residence. Additional clarification was given about the proposed lot 
lines. Mr. Coda asked City Planner Straite for clarification on how 
long the notice of decision is good for. 

3. Robert Wrightman, 3170 Millersburg Drive, gave some history 
between his property and the Applicant’s property, which is next 
door. He had some additional questions about the flood plain and 
wetlands. Commissioner Kirkendall responded and stated that the 
application does not propose a development of homes, only a 
partition of the property. 
 

iii. Public hearing closed at 6:39 pm by President Kirkendall. 
iv. Deliberation by the Planning Commission.  

1. Commissioner Gunner asked staff to explain the connectivity of 
existing and future streets. 
 

ACTION  
The following Motion was made by Commissioner Sullivan: 
Based upon the findings of fact, any testimony, the conditions of approval, and 
staff recommendations listed in the staff report, and because the proposed project 
satisfies the applicable criteria, I motion for the adoption of the findings from the 
staff report dated April 9, 2019, and further Motion that the Planning Commission 
approve Partition Application No. PA 19-04, Lambrecht Partition, pursuant to the 
conditions of approval listed in the staff report. 
 
A seconded was given by Commissioner Perlenfein. 
Commissioner Kirkendall: Aye 
Commissioner Gunner: Aye 
Commissioner Vogler: Aye 
Commissioner Lepin: Aye 
Commissioner Sullivan: Aye 
Commissioner Perlenfein: Aye 
Commissioner Peltier: Aye 
 

3) Public hearing on Land Use File SP 18-02 opened by President Kirkendall at 6:43 p.m. 
Deputy City Recorder, Jake Gabell, read disclosures. President Kirkendall finished 
opening the hearing. 

 
i. All Commissioners declared site contact; they drove by the property. 

 
File No: SP 18-02 Mid-Willamette Valley Intermodal Transfer Center:  
The Applicant is proposing a facility that would transfer rail contents in shipping 
containers to trucks and from trucks to rail. The intent is to connect the 
International Port of Coos Bay with I-5 for containers and international shipping. 
The contents of the shipping containers will generally be agricultural, though the 
facility is not limited to these products. The application indicates that the facility 
could serve up to 76,340 containers a year. The site has been designed to 
accommodate cold storage as well. The application has indicated that the use, 
located on a portion of the old Albany Paper Mill site, will consist of: 

• Two existing structures, one 60,750 square foot storage structure to be 
renovated to a shop and storage area, and another 7,000 square foot 
structure to be used as multi-use office spaces, 

• Revised landscaping and site work on the project frontage, 
• Offsite revisions to existing railroad track layout/design, 



 
• Onsite revisions to the existing railroad track layout, 
• Truck path revisions to the site, including the use of the existing truck 

queuing areas near Old Salem Road, and new truck queuing areas internal 
to the site, 

• Two new stormwater basins, 
• And a new truck loading area with a gravel finish and lighting. 

The Applicant has indicated that the proposed use is Phase 1 and takes only a 
portion of the property. Any future use of the site outside the area identified as 
Phase 1 will require additional entitlements. The intermodal facility would operate 
on a five-day work week, each day consisting of a ten hour shift. The site would be 
operational 261 days of the year, accounting for weekday holidays and 
weekends. Although the intermodal facility will operate at these hours, the site will 
be inhabited 24 hours a day, 365 days a year as truckers could use it as truck stop. 
 

ii. Staff report was presented by Matt Straite, City Planner.  
iii. Discussion between the Planning Commission, staff, and audience 

members.  
1. The Applicant, David Reese of 3211st Ave Albany Oregon, gave a 

presentation to the Planning Commission. He explained the 
background, benefits, and history behind the project. Mr. Reese 
stated that the state of Oregon is in the final steps of approval of the 
funding of an intermodal facility, and the Millersburg proposal is very 
strong. He presented a rendering of what the project is proposed to 
look like. He walked the Planning Commission through the site plan 
and proposed improvements. Mr. Reese presented the economic 
benefits the project presents to the City and the Willamette Valley. 

2. Questions from the Planning Commission. 
a. Commissioners Perlenfein and Kirkendall asked questions 

about future ODOT plans for an additional overpass. Mr. 
Reese stated that the future interchange is on ODOT’s 
horizon, but is currently not funded. 

b. Commissioner Gunner asked about changing the traffic plan 
to have all the trucks enter and exit from the south. Mr. Reese, 
stated that through the operational instructions that could 
address that concern. 

c. Commissioner Sullivan had concerns about the overnight 
parking and asked if the Applicant had presented an 
operational plan to the City for review. Mr. Reese stated that 
a plan has not been presented. 

d. Commissioner Kirkendall had questions about the operations. 
e. Commissioner Sullivan asked what percentage of the trucks 

are coming from the south vs the north. Mr. Reese stated that 
80-90% will be coming from the south. 

f. Commissioner Gunner asked staff for clarification on the noise 
ordinance. 

g. Commissioner Kirkendall asked who will be involved in 
keeping the business afloat while the improvements are being 
made. Mr. Reese stated that Linn County has committed to 
subsidize the project for a couple of years. 

h. Commissioner Perlenfein asked about Queen Street relief in 
Albany, and the Applicant does not expect any relief of 
traffic on that street. 

3. Comments and questions from the public: 



 
a. Craig Ziegenhagel, 4605 NE Granite Ave, Albany OR 97321, 

stated his opposition to the project. His concerns centered on 
traffic mitigation, noise mitigation, and other potential 
nuisances.  Mr. Ziegenhagel handed out a list of 
recommendations that was added to the record. 

b. Bob Nelson, 2878 NE Levi Ln, Albany OR 97321, stated that he 
does not believe that the proposed project provides any 
benefit to the City. 

c. Denny Spilde, 3226 NE Siuslaw Ave, Albany OR 97321, stated 
that he is in favor of the project and that Millersburg has been 
a significant industrial town. He stated his opinion about 
potential. 

d. Peter Spenser, 4726 Terry Lane, Albany OR 97321, stated his 
concerns about the potential traffic impacts that project 
could bring to the City. He stated that he is against the 
project due to the traffic concerns. 

e. Lisa Lambert, 3268 NE Millersburg Drive, Albany OR 97321, 
stated her concerns about the potential traffic concerns of 
the project and the lack of additional jobs in the area; she is 
opposed to the project. 

4. Rebuttal by the Applicant. Mr. Reese stated that the traffic concerns 
could be resolved with operational procedures, and that the site 
could be used to bring additional jobs in the future. 

a. Commissioner Kirkendall had questions about the traffic study 
and the traffic study used. 

b. Commissioner Gunner had questions about the planned 
location of the required multi-use path. 

i. The Applicant, and staff Planner Straite, stated that the 
path is planned to meander through the project in the 
green space.  

5. Additional comments and questions from the public. 
a. Gary Keen, 3254 NE Clearwater Drive, looks forward to seeing 

a site plan. 
b. Justin Dopkin, 3412 Clearwater, Albany OR 97321, stated his 

approval of the project due to the potential economic 
benefits. 

c. Renita Mendez, 5483 NE Luckiamute Court, had safety and 
security concerns about the project. 

6. No further rebuttal of by the Applicant. 
7. Commissioner Peltier asked if the site will be locked during non-

operational times. The Applicant stated that the site will be secured 
during non-operational times. 

iv. Public hearing closed at 7:52 pm by President Kirkendall. 
v. Deliberation by the Planning Commission.  

1. Commissioner Sullivan stated his concerns about the overnight 
parking and traffic concerns. 

2. Commissioner Lepin stated the overnight parking would be 
necessary due to the amount of overnight truck traffic already in the 
City at Love’s Truck Stop. 

3. City Attorney Reid explained a condition of approval that could be 
added to address the concerns of the public and Planning 
Commission. The new condition of approval would require the site to 



 
comply with all state and federal noise regulations, as well as EPA air 
quality regulations. 

4. Commissioner Sullivan stated his concerns about the lack of an 
operational plan and potential idle times of trucks parked overnight. 

a. Staff Planner Straite suggested to Commissioner Sullivan that a 
condition of approval be added that requires signs be 
placed on site that state the max idle times. Commissioner 
Sullivan agreed with staff. 

5. Commissioner Kirkendall requested a condition of approval that 
states the site comply with all local, state, and federal rules for noise 
and emissions. 

6. City Planner Straite restated the three conditions of approval that 
the Planning Commission asked for: 

a. Signs will be placed on site that state max idle times.  
b. An operational plan to be given to and reviewed by City staff 

prior to occupancy that will include: height maximums of 
stacked containers, truck idle times, security, and traffic 
patterns. 

c. The site will be required to comply with all local, state, and 
federal rules for noise and emissions. 
 

ACTION 
The following motion was made by Commissioner Perlenfein: 
Based upon the findings of fact, any testimony, the conditions of approval, and 
staff recommendations listed in the staff report and because the proposed project 
satisfies the applicable criteria, I motion for the adoption of the findings from the 
staff report dated February 9, 2019, and further Motion that the Planning 
Commission approve Site Plan No. SP 18-02, Mid-Willamette Valley Intermodal 
Transfer Center, pursuant to the conditions of approval listed in the staff report 
including the additional the three conditions of approval stated by staff during this 
meeting. 
 
A second was given by Commissioner Peltier. 
Commissioner Kirkendall: Aye 
Commissioner Gunner: Aye 
Commissioner Vogler: Aye 
Commissioner Lepin: Aye 
Commissioner Sullivan: Aye 
Commissioner Perlenfein: Aye 
Commissioner Peltier: Aye 

 
F. Workshop and hearing dates: 

April 22, 2019 @ 6:00 p.m. – Planning Commission Hearing 
April 29, 2019 @ 4:00 p.m. – Planning Commission Workshop 
 

G. ADJOURNMENT: meeting adjourned at 8:08 p.m. 
 
 
Respectfully submitted:     Reviewed by: 
 
 
 
 



 
Jake Gabell       Matt Straite 
Deputy City Recorder     City Planner 
 
 
 
 
Upcoming Meetings: 
April 22, 2019 @ 6:00 p.m. – Planning Commission Hearing 
April 29, 2019 @ 4:00 p.m. – Planning Commission Workshop 
 
 
 
 

 
These notes are not final until approved by the Planning Commission. 

The location of the meeting/hearing is accessible to the disabled. If you need special accommodations to 
attend or participate, please notify the City Recorder in advance by calling (541) 928-4523. 

www.cityofmillersburg.org 

http://www.cityofmillersburg.org/




The location of the meeting/hearing is accessible to the disabled. If you need special accommodations to 
attend or participate, please notify the City Recorder in advance by calling (541) 928-4523. 

www.cityofmillersburg.org 

 

 

 
 
 

CITY OF MILLERSBURG 
PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

4222 NE Old Salem Road 
Monday, April 22, 2019 

6:00 p.m. 
 

Minutes 
 

A. CALL TO ORDER: Commission President Jimmie Kirkendall called the meeting to order at 
6:00 pm. 
 

B. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

C. ROLL CALL:  
Members Present:  Jimmy Kirkendall, Steve Vogler, Dennis Gunner 
 John Sullivan, Connie Lepin, Anne Peltier, Ed Perlenfein, and Scott 

Stimpson 
Members Absent:  Ryan Penning  
Staff Present: Jake Gabell, Deputy City Recorder; Matt Straite, City Planner; Forrest 

Reid, City Attorney; Wallace Lien, City Land Use Attorney; Kevin 
Kreitman, City Manager; and Janelle Booth, Assistant City 
Manager/City Engineer 

 
D. QUASI-JUDICIAL PUBLIC HEARING 
 

1) Public hearing on Land Use Files CUP 19-01 and SP 19-01 opened by President 
Kirkendall at 6:02 p.m. Deputy City Recorder, Jake Gabell, read disclosures. President 
Kirkendall finished opening the hearing. 

 
i. Commissioners Vogler, Peltier, Lepin, and Gunner declared site contact; 

they drove by the property. 
 
File No: CUP 19-01 and SP 19-01 Evening Star Manufactured Home Park 
The applicant is proposing a Conditional Use Permit and Site Plan Review for a 28 
space senior manufactured home park with four proposed guest parking spaces, 
drainage features, one open space area, landscaping, and one proposed point 
of access from NE Millersburg Drive. 
 
Staff report was presented by Matt Straite, City Planner. A memo was handed out 
by City Planner Straite and added to the record. 

 
ii. Staff report was presented by Matt Straite, City Planner.  

1. A memo was handed out by the applicant and added to the 
record. 

iii. Presentation by Norman Bickell, applicant’s planner from 2232 42nd Ave SE 
#821, Salem OR 97371and Mike Reeder, applicant’s attorney of 375 W 4th 

http://www.cityofmillersburg.org/


The location of the meeting/hearing is accessible to the disabled. If you need special accommodations to 
attend or participate, please notify the City Recorder in advance by calling (541) 928-4523. 

www.cityofmillersburg.org 

 

 

Ave Suite 205, Eugene OR 97401 presented for the applicant. 
1. Mr. Bickel sated that the applicant does agree with conditions of 

approval 1-4, 8-10 and 14, but does not agree with conditions of 
approval 5-7 and 11-13. He reviewed each condition of approval 
and gave detail on those that the applicant does not agree with. 

2. Statement by Mr. Reeder, applicant’s attorney. 
a. A memo was given to the Planning Commission by Mr. 

Reader. He also reviewed the state code and how he 
believed it applies to this application. 

iv. Public Testimony 
1. Corbett Richards of 6218 Mesa Ct, Albany OR 97321 reviewed state 

codes that he believes the application is in violation of. Mr. Richards 
handed a memo to the Planning Commission that was added to the 
record. 

2. David Phelps of 2690 Millersburg Dr, Albany OR 97321, neighbor to 
the applicant, has a concerns centered on storm water runoff from 
the project into his property. 

3. Tarry Hill, 2595 Millersburg Drive, discussed his concerns about the 
private street width, traffic concerns, parking concerns, sidewalks, 
and agreed with the conditions of approval recommended in the 
staff report. 

4. Erin Brazel, of 6219 Mesa Court, handed a letter to the Planning 
Commission detailing her concerns. Her concerns centered on state 
statute 446.100, possible conflicts with the City Comprehensive Plan, 
soil densities, screening requirements, and traffic. 

5. Brian Stafferson of 6230 Sedona Rd, indicated that he had no new 
evidence and yielded his time. 

6. Wayne Hardner with Clayton Homes stated his approval of the 
project, the price of the new manufactured home, and that the 
Planning Commission could take a tour. 

7. Jerome Magnason, 4612 Terri Ln, stated that he supports the project 
due to affordable housing needs; he also had concerns about the 
additional screening requirements. 

8. Tom Eisele, 6351 Sedona Road, had concerns about drainage and 
flooding in the proposed site.  

9. Beth Eddings, 1979 Clover Ridge, the applicant’s wife, explained the 
reasoning behind the application, and her personal history with 
family members in manufactured home parks. She stated that the 
CC&R’s will have age limits of residents in the proposed 
manufactured home park.  

10. Jessica Staffenson of 6230 Sedona, requested a continuance. 
11. Chris Martin, 6211 Masa Court, had concerns centered on lack of 

enforceability of CC&R’s, traffic, and parking. 
12. Nathan Van Nicholson, 6347 Sedona Rd, is opposed to the project; 

his oppositions centered on the quality of life, and the density of the 
housing in the project in comparison to the nearby neighborhoods. 

13. Nola Richards, 6218 Masa Court, has concerns about the parking 
and lack of enforceability of age restricted communities. 

  

http://www.cityofmillersburg.org/


The location of the meeting/hearing is accessible to the disabled. If you need special accommodations to 
attend or participate, please notify the City Recorder in advance by calling (541) 928-4523. 

www.cityofmillersburg.org 

 

 

 
v. Rebuttal by the applicant. 

1. Planning Commissioner Kirkendall asked what the difference is 
between the type A and type B manufactured homes. 

a. William Eddings stated that a type A is a double wide home 
and a type B is a single wide home, both 10 years or newer. 
He also stated that the project will have all new homes. 

2. Mr. Reeder and Mr. Bickell gave a rebuttal on behalf of the 
applicant. 

a. They addressed the concerns by the public which included: 
i. Screening, floodway, rodent breeding grounds, traffic, 

and parking. 
b. Mr. Reeder stated that the applicant had no concerns with 

the record remaining open. 
c. Commissioner Sullivan had concerns with the width of the 

streets and getting a garbage truck through the proposed 
private street. 

d. Commissioner Vogler had a clarifying question about the 
amount of parking. 

e. Commissioner Lepin had questions about the traffic study and 
when it when occurred. 

i. Mr. Reeder stated that the traffic study was not 
required by state law, and was provided as a request 
from the City. 

f. Mr. Reeder showed the site plan that was provided to the Fire 
Marshall in January 2019. 

3. Additional staff statements. 
a. Kevin Kreitman, Millersburg City Manager, has 16 years as a 

fire chief and 37 total years in the firefighting profession. He 
addressed the requirements for a wider street due to the size 
of emergency service vehicles.  

b. Commissioner Kirkendall asked staff if the COA’s in the staff 
report were in legal compliance with state law. 

i. Attorney Lien stated that the staff report has been fully 
vetted by the legal staff. 

c. Commissioner Vogler asked a clarifying question about the 
drainage requirements. City Planner Straite explained the 
drainage requirements.  

d. Mr. Reeder stated that the information on the white board will 
be given to staff to be included in the record. 

4. Attorney Lien gave a timeline for the continuance. 
a. The record is held open until April 29th at 5:00 pm for anyone 

to submit material. 
b. If material is received, the record is held open until May 6th at 

5:00 pm for rebuttal; however no new evidence will be 
accepted. 

c. The record is held open until May 13th at 5:00 pm for only the 
applicant to offer rebuttal; however no new evidence will be 
accepted. 

d. May 21st at 6:00 pm the Planning Commission will reconvene 

http://www.cityofmillersburg.org/


The location of the meeting/hearing is accessible to the disabled. If you need special accommodations to 
attend or participate, please notify the City Recorder in advance by calling (541) 928-4523. 

www.cityofmillersburg.org 

 

 

and consider all new evidence and deliberate. 
e. Comments and letters may be delivered to Millersburg City 

Hall, mailed, or emailed to info@cityofmillersburg.org by 5:00 
pm on each specific day noted above. 

5. Additional questions by the Planning Commission: 
a. Commissioner Lepin asked staff a clarifying question about 

the proposed detention basin and treatment pond in a flood 
plain.  

i. Assistant City Manager/City Engineer Booth responded 
and explained the condition of approval requiring the 
detention basins and the standard review process by 
staff. 

vi. Public hearing continued at 7:58 pm by President Kirkendall. 
 

ACTION 
The following motion was made by Commissioner Sullivan: 
Moved to continue with the timeline given by Attorney Lien noted above. 
 
A second was given by Commissioner Perlenfein. 
Commissioner Kirkendall: Aye 
Commissioner Gunner: Aye 
Commissioner Stimpson: Aye 
Commissioner Vogler: Aye 
Commissioner Lepin: Aye 
Commissioner Sullivan: Aye 
Commissioner Perlenfein: Aye 
Commissioner Peltier: Aye 

 
F. ADJOURNMENT: meeting adjourned at 8:00 p.m. 

 
Respectfully submitted:     Reviewed by: 
 
 
 
 
Jake Gabell       Matt Straite 
Deputy City Recorder     City Planner 
 
 
 
 
Upcoming Meetings: 
April 29, 2019 @ 4:00 p.m. – Planning Commission Workshop 
 
 
 

 
These notes are not final until approved by the Planning Commission. 

http://www.cityofmillersburg.org/


 

 The location of the meeting/hearing is accessible to the disabled. If you need special accommodations to 
attend or participate, please notify the City Recorder in advance by calling (541) 928-4523. 

www.cityofmillersburg.org 

 
 

CITY OF MILLERSBURG 
PLANNING COMMISSION WORK SESSION 

4222 NE Old Salem Road 
Monday, April 29, 2019 

4:00 p.m. 
 

Minutes 
 

A. CALL TO ORDER: Commission President Jimmie Kirkendall called the meeting to order at 
4:01pm. 
 

B. ROLL CALL:  
Members Present:  Jimmy Kirkendall, Steve Vogler, Dennis Gunner, John Sullivan, Connie 

Lepin, Anne Peltier, and Scott Stimpson 
Members Absent:  Ryan Penning and Ed Perlenfein 
Staff Present: Jake Gabell, Deputy City Recorder; Matt Straite, City Planner; Forrest 

Reid, City Attorney; John Morgan, Planning Manager; Kimberly 
Wollenburg, City Recorder; Kevin Kreitman, City Manager; and 
Janelle Booth, Assistant City Manager/City Engineer. 

 
C. Presentation by John Morgan. The Planning Commission reviewed the new Land Use 

Development Code draft with Mr. Morgan, articles 1-4. 
1) Article 1 

i. The definitions for a Planned Unit Development (PUD) and Subdivision will 
be clarified. 

2) Article 2 
i. The Urban Transition Zone was proposed: 

1. Several updates were suggested to clarify the zone, specifically in 
the section 2.104.08 “Public Services and Rezoning”. 

2. 2.103.02, “Senior Housing” will be removed in the permitted uses for 
this zone and moved to the residential mixed density zone. 

3. The garage setback in this zone will be changed to 25 feet. 
ii. The Residential Mixed Density Zone was reviewed: 

1. Clarification was given on 2.104.06, and it was decided to change 
the max height to 35 feet. 

2. The garage setback in this zone will be changed to 25 feet. 
iii. The Mixed Use Zone was reviewed: 

1. City Planner Straite explained what this zone could do for the City if 
modified. 

2. A PUD will be added to this zone, and remove detached single 
family zone from permitted uses. 

3. This zone will be discussed in more detail during future work sessions. 
iv. The General Commercial Zone was reviewed: 

1. 2.107.06 F 2 will be changed to allow outdoor storage. 
2. RV parks will be added to special uses. 

v. The General Industrial Zone was reviewed. 
vi. Recess 5:27 pm and ended at 6:00 pm. 
vii. The Public Facility Zone was reviewed: 

http://www.cityofmillersburg.org/


 

 The location of the meeting/hearing is accessible to the disabled. If you need special accommodations to 
attend or participate, please notify the City Recorder in advance by calling (541) 928-4523. 

www.cityofmillersburg.org 

1. Parks will be added to permitted uses. 
viii. The Flood Plain Overlay, Historical Property Overlay, Wetland and Riparian 

Area Overlay, Willamette Greenway Overlay, and Airport Approach Area 
Overlay were briefly reviewed with no changes proposed. 

ix. The Limited Use Overlay Zone was reviewed and the use was explained to 
the Planning Commission. 

3) Article 3 
i. Design standards for Old Salem Road frontage will be added to Article 3. 
ii. Partition standards will be updated to comply with current City standards. 
iii. Street Standards: 

1. General provisions will be updated to include Transportation System 
Plan and current Public Works Standards. 

2. Access spacing – arterial driveway spacing was discussed at length. 
A note will be added to address circular driveway provisions. 

3. Sidewalks, multifamily will be added to (F). 
4. Private streets construction standards will be modified to meet public 

street standards. 
5. Private access easement—the minimum easement width will be 

changed to 25 feet. 
6. Traffic impact study requirements were discussed. 

iv. Parking and loading area development requirements: 
1. Various sections were reviewed and the Commission asked clarifying 

questions.  
2. Paving requirements were discussed, and the standards will be 

adjusted. 
v. Signs 

1. Section 3.106.06 (I) was discussed and will be changed to 3 days 
after an election. 

2. Criteria will be added throughout the sign code. 
3. A provision for larger signs near I-5 will be added to the conditional 

use permits. 
vi. Review of the code concluded on 3.107.01. The next work session will start 

in the fencing code. 
D. The Planning Commission will meet again for an additional work session on May 13th, 2019 

at 5:00pm. 
E. Meeting adjourned by Commission President Kirkendall at 8:10 pm. 

 
 
Respectfully submitted:     Reviewed by: 
 
 
 
 
Jake Gabell       Matt Straite 
Deputy City Recorder     City Planner 

 

 
These notes are not final until approved by the Planning Commission. 

http://www.cityofmillersburg.org/


The location of the meeting/hearing is accessible to the disabled. If you need special accommodations to attend or 
participate, please notify the City Recorder in advance by calling (541) 928-4523. www.cityofmillersburg.org 

CITY OF MILLERSBURG 
PLANNING COMMISSION WORK SESSION 

4222 NE Old Salem Road 
Monday, May 13, 2019 

5:00 p.m. 

Minutes 

A. CALL TO ORDER: Commission President Jimmie Kirkendall called the meeting to order at
5:08 pm.

B. ROLL CALL:
Members Present:  Jimmy Kirkendall, Steve Vogler, Dennis Gunner, John Sullivan, Connie

Lepin, and Anne Peltier
Members Absent:  Ryan Penning, Ed Perlenfein, and Scott Stimpson
Staff Present: Jake Gabell, Deputy City Recorder; Matt Straite, City Planner; Forrest

Reid, City Attorney; John Morgan, Planning Manager; and Janelle
Booth, Assistant City Manager/City Engineer.

C. Presentation by John Morgan. The Planning Commission reviewed the new Land Use
Development Code draft with Mr. Morgan, articles 1-4.

1) Article 3
i. Review of 3.107, the Fencing code.

1. Residential fencing permits will not be required, and are limited to 6
feet in height.

2. Industrial/commercial fences will be limited to 8 feet, including any
wires on top.

3. Retaining walls were discussed, and a definition will be added and
will conform to the building code.

4. Swimming pool fencing will be modified to conform to the building
code requirements.

ii. Review of 3.108, the Land Division code.
1. Discussion on partitions and serial partitions.
2. Flag lots will be changed to have a minimum 25 foot access strip

with a minimum improved surface of 20 feet.
3. Improvement requirements – Subdivisions will be modified to move

the requirements to the engineering standards and not place them
in the code.

4. A requirement will be added to require 2 trees per new home, in
either the front yard or planter strip.

5. A street name policy was discussed.
iii. Review of 3.109, the Yard and Lot Standards.

1. A drawing, or visual, will be added to the “Vision Clearance”
section.

iv. Review of 3.200, and 3.201– no comments
v. Review of 3.202, the Manufactured Dwelling Parks.

1. Streets were discussed and will be changed to the first of 100 feet of
the private park streets will conform to City standards.

http://www.cityofmillersburg.org/


The location of the meeting/hearing is accessible to the disabled. If you need special accommodations to attend or 
participate, please notify the City Recorder in advance by calling (541) 928-4523. www.cityofmillersburg.org 

2. Types of manufactured homes were discussed.
3. Clear and objective standards were discussed.

vi. Review of 3.203, Design Standards for Homes on Individual Lots.
1. The title will be changed to add “module”.

vii. Review of 3.204. This section was discussed with no changes.
viii. Review of 3.205, Manufactured Home, Trailer, and Vehicular Sales, Service

and Related Uses was discussed.
ix. Review of 3.206, Residential Accessory Structures.

1. A footnote will be added to the table in 3.206.01(A) to include total
lot coverage and impervious surfaces.

x. Review of 3.207, Accessory Dwelling Units.
1. An “owner occupied” requirement will be added.
2. Specific ADU requirements will be added.
3. One additional off street parking spot will be required.
4. Separate metering of City utilities will not be allowed.

xi. Review of 3.208, Permitted Temporary Uses.
1. Section (B) (8) will be removed.
2. Section (C) will be removed.
3. Section (G) will be modified to conform to the Municipal Code.

xii. Review of 3.209, 3.210 - no changes proposed.
xiii. Review of 3.211, Houses of Worship.

1. A provision for exterior lighting and screening will be added.
xiv. Review of 3.211, Standard Uses.

1. Livestock provisions will be removed from all zones. A provision will be
added to 3.211 to allow livestock within minimum lot size of 2.5 acres,
regardless of zoning. Livestock standards will also be added.
Chickens are regulated by the Municipal Code.

2. Food stand limitations will be removed.
3. Automobile service station will be added back to the new draft; it

was in the prior draft.
4. 3.211.11 (C) will modified to allow for rebuilding of a structure

destroyed less than 80% of the assessed value.
2) Article 4

i. The next Planning Commission work session will begin with the review of
Article 4. Planning Director Morgan will add the comments from City
Planner Straite and City Attorney Reid.

3) Review of the map and zone changes.
i. City Planner Straite proposed to annex the two areas within the UGB that

are not included within the City limits.
ii. Presentation by City Planner Straite on the new zones and the proposed

zoning staff recommends.

4) The Planning Commission will meet for an additional work session on May 28th,
2019 at 5:00 pm.

5) Meeting adjourned by Commission President Kirkendall at 9:14 pm.

These notes are not final until approved by the Planning Commission. 

http://www.cityofmillersburg.org/


Page 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
To: Millersburg Planning Commission 
 
From: All Staff 
 
Date: May 15, 2019 
 
Re: Response to Issues Raised by Attorney Reeder 
 
This Memorandum is the staff response to the arguments made by the applicant’s attorney in his 
letter dated April 22, 2019.  This response is presented in the order argued by Mr. Reeder. 
1. Procedural Error 
 
 A. The first issue raised is the allegation that the applicant did not receive a 

mailed copy of the hearing notice.  Staff asserts that notice of the April 22, 2019 
Planning Commission hearing was mailed to the address provided to staff by the 
applicant.  Such notice was duly mailed on April 3, 2019, and was not returned to 
the City. 

 
  This issue is actually moot regardless of mailed notice, as the applicant 

and his attorney had actual notice of the April 22, 2019 hearing and attended the 
proceeding.  The applicant and his attorney were given full opportunity to present 
evidence, argument and rebuttal at this hearing.  Also, the Record was held open 
for an additional period of time to allow the applicant and his attorney time to 
present new evidence and to rebut any evidence placed in the Record after the 
hearing was concluded. 

 
  Where a party has actual notice and attends the hearing, any flaws in the 

notice process presents no prejudice to the applicant.  As such, the applicant’s 
argument has no merit and may be disregarded. 

 
 B. The argument is made that the applicant did not receive notice of the 

legislative text amendment (File No. DC 19-01) or the hearing conducted thereon.  
This quasi-judicial application is completely separate and distinct from the 
legislative process that was File No. DC 19-01.  At the time of this process, the 
applicant had just purchased the property and the tax rolls had not yet reflected his 
ownership.  Staff is authorized to use the current tax rolls for notification. 

 



Page 2 

Because the two cases are completely separate, any flaws that may have 
occurred in the text amendment case would have no bearing on this application. 

To the extent the arguments regarding DC 19-01 can be considered to be a 
collateral attack, such is not allowed in a separate proceeding.  Especially, long 
after the appeal period for the text amendment has passed. 

The applicant’s argument that there was a flawed notice in DC 19-01 is 
not relevant here; has no merit in this separate case; and may be disregarded. 

C. The argument is made that the applicant should not have been required to
file an application for both the Conditional Use and the Site Plan.  The applicant
admits the approval criteria for both applications are identical, and that the City
combined both for analysis and consideration, but does not provide any evidence
that he has been prejudiced by the decision of staff to require and process both
application types.  Where no prejudice is demonstrated, even procedural error is
not subject to review or correction by the Planning Commission.

The time for the applicant to raise this issue was at the outset of filing the 
application. The applicant did not object, or file the applications with a 
reservation of rights on this issue.  He filed both applications, as requested, 
without objection.  Staff believes this issue has been waived by the applicant for 
failure to timely raise it.  This argument should have been made at the time of 
filing, not after the fact at the public hearing.   

In any event, staff asserts that it was fully within the lawful discretion of 
the City to require both the Conditional Use and the Site Plan applications in this 
case.  The subject property is irregular in shape; has wetlands present requiring 
mitigation; has only one point of access; has a different elevation profile from the 
adjoining neighborhood, and is bordered by a creek along one boundary.  LUDC 
2.400 gives the City the discretion to require both types of applications where 
there are unusual or special features present.  There is nothing in the Needed 
Housing rules or case law that negates the LUDC allowance for what applications 
are required of a developer.  Staff asserts it correctly and lawfully required the 
applicant to file both the Conditional Use and Site Plan applications. 

2. Inter-relationship between the LUDC and the Specialty Code 

The applicant argues that the Oregon Specialty Code (OMDS) controls all aspects of the 
development of a manufactured home park in the City.  Aside from the applicant’s attorney’s 
unsupported and insulting allegations of bias and discrimination, the extremely narrow 
interpretation of the approval standards and development criteria for a manufactured home park 
in the City ignores the complex inter-relationship of the LUDC and the Specialty Code and the 
need for the City to balance the two in its decision on these applications. 



Page 3 

Staff asserts the reconciliation of the two codes involves the City implementing its own code.  
Where a City is interpreting its own land use code, that interpretation is subject to deference by 
all reviewing authorities under ORS 197.829. 
 
The City acknowledges that no deference is extended to interpretations of the Specialty Code 
(OMDS), and asserts that the staff analysis in this case involves only suggested interpretations of 
the LUDC, and not the OMDS. 
 
It has to be understood that both the OMDS and the LUDC apply to the siting of this 
manufactured home park.  The OMDS at Section 10-2.1 specifically states that new parks have to 
be constructed in accordance with the Millersburg Comprehensive Plan and the LUDC, as well 
as the OMDS. 
 
However, the LUDC and the OMDS are not always consistent, are at times ambiguous and are 
sometimes confusing.  Because of these issues, the staff asserts it has the right to apply and 
implement the LUDC to resolve the inconsistencies. 
 
According to the OMDS, the City has the right to establish reasonable siting criteria, subject to 
some exceptions that are not clearly written, but the intent of which can be assumed.  Such 
reasonable siting criteria includes perimeter setbacks, and wetlands buffers; some control of 
internal streets; and other similar matters.  Where the OMDS is silent on a type of standard, the 
City has the right to utilize the LUDC so long as the criteria and standards are not more onerous 
than could be imposed on a single family development in the RR-10-UC zone, and involve clear 
and objective, non-value laden judgments. 
 
The City has the right to establish development standards, and the new park must comply with 
the city code, but where there are specific standards in the OMDS, they will control over the 
same specific standards in the city code.  However, where the OMDS is silent on a provision that 
is in the LUDC, staff asserts it has the right to apply the LUDC in order to ensure the 
construction of the manufactured home park is treated no differently than single family uses in 
the RR-10-UC zone.  Things like perimeter setbacks simply do not apply to single family 
dwellings in the RR-10-UC zone, so staff asserts the City may apply its own park standards, 
because such parks are allowed as conditional uses in the RR-10-UC zone. 
 
In siting any use in the City, staff is very cognizant of issues that may affect the health, safety and 
welfare of the community, and applies and implements the LUDC in light of those issues. 
 
As to street conditions, the OMDS has a chart (Table 10C) that specifies street width, and allows 
for on-street parking, which is identified in the chart, but the OMDS has no criteria mandated for 
how the City determines when on-street parking should be provided, or where, or how many such 
spaces.  In other words, Table 10C has options available for applying to manufactured home 
parks, but does not   mandate any particular option for the City to apply. The choice of which 
option from Table 10C is to be selected is left up to the City. 
 



Page 4 

There is nothing in OMDS that mandates this project have only a 20 foot street width.  The 
applicant simply used Table 10C to draw his own conclusion as to the street width.  The OMDS 
however does not mandate any specific street standard among the options in Table 10C.  Further, 
there is nothing that prohibits the City from selecting which option in Table 10C should apply in 
this case.  OMDS specifies the standards, not the design. 
 
The LUDC provides that a new manufactured home park is allowed as a Conditional Use in the 
RR-10-UC zone which means the City may draw on the approval criteria in both LUDC 6.165 
(parks), and 2.500 (CUP).  The City is required to make appropriate findings on mandatory 
approval criteria found in LUDC 6.165 and 2.500.  However, if there is an inconsistency between 
the OMDS and the LUDC, the City must apply and implement the LUDC in such a way as to 
alleviate the potential Catch-22 between the two code provisions, to come up with a decision that 
allows a safe park to be constructed. 
 
From a health, welfare and safety standpoint, the staff dislikes creating streets with no on-street 
parking. This policy is to provide adequate street width with minimum disruption of traffic for 
emergency vehicles as is pointed out by the separate staff Memo on street safety. Staff asserts 
that the City may impose a street width, sidewalk and on-street parking conditions as part of its 
authority in LUDC 6.165 and 2.500. Using OMDS Table 10C, staff asserts that the third option 
in the Table (30 foot street with parallel parking on one side) best implements the health, safety 
and welfare concerns, and best complies with the LUDC. 
 
Based on staff’s additional research, and consideration of the inter-relationships between the 
LUDC and the OMDS, staff’s recommended condition of approval is amended to read as 
follows: 
 
5. The applicant shall construct the first 100 feet of internal streets to city standards.  The 

applicant shall revise the site plan showing the remainder of the internal streets with a 
minimum paved width of 30 feet, allowing for parallel parking on one side of the street. 
Should the inclusion of these requirements significantly change the design of the project, 
the Planning Commission will be required to review the revised design using the site plan 
review process. 

 
Staff asserts that the City has the lawful authority to impose additional development standards so 
long as those standards do not conflict with a specific provision of the OMDS.  Therefore where 
the OMDS is silent as to a development standard, the City has the right to impose standards that 
are stated in the LUDC on those issues where the OMDS is silent.  Implementation of such 
standards may be by application of the LUDC, or in conditions of approval found necessary to 
ensure compliance and safety. 
 
Similarly, where issues arise that are addressed in neither the OMDS or the LUDC, staff asserts 
the City has the right to address those issues, and impose conditions that are required in order to 
address and mitigate the issue that is not otherwise addressed. 
 



Page 5 

The right to impose conditions of approval is specifically provided for in LUDC 2.500.  Further, 
staff asserts the amended condition is clear and objective, and involves no value laden 
judgments. The condition requires a 30 foot wide street with parallel parking on one side, a 
standard that comes directly from OMDS Table 10C.   
 
Staff asserts that the findings, conclusions and recommended conditions of approval in the staff 
report properly and lawfully apply both the OMDS and the LUDC. 
 
3. Applicability of the Needed Housing Act 
 
The applicant asserts that the Needed Housing Act applies to this application, and the result of 
that is all standards, procedures and conditions must be clear and objective, and when applied 
cannot have the effect of creating unreasonable cost or delay.  What the applicant does not make 
clear, with the exception of specific arguments on recommended conditions, is what specific 
standards or procedures are not clear and objective or which add unreasonable cost or delay.  As 
previously noted, where there is an argument of a procedural flaw in a land use process, an 
applicant must demonstrate that the flaw caused him substantial prejudice.  Staff asserts that 
there has been no flaw, and therefore no prejudice. 
 
Discussion of the conditions follow, but as to standards and procedures, staff takes the position 
that the process here is not flawed.  The procedural aspect of this case is discussed in detail 
above.  The process by which this application has been reviewed is clearly and objectively set 
forth, and has been duly followed.  There has been no delay in the processing.  The timing of 
consideration of this application follows the timing requirements in the statute, and the one open 
record period provided here, was consented to and taken advantage of by the applicant.  There 
has been no unreasonable costs associated with the way this case has been processed.  With 
respect to the argument that the Needed Housing Act has been violated in the manner in which 
the City has processed this application, staff is of the opinion that no violation of the Act has 
taken place. 
 
With regard to the argument that the standards in place in this case are not clear and objective, 
staff disagrees.  As discussed above, and in the Staff Report, the criteria for decision making in 
this case is laid out as a combination of the LUDC and the OMDS.  To a large extent, the OMDS 
controls the development standards, and it is code that is not of the City’s making, nor is the City 
responsible for the language therein being clear and objective.  To the extent any such argument 
is directed to the OMDS, staff asserts that the City has no control or responsibility for that 
language, and cannot be held responsible if its language is less than clear or objective. 
 
The applicant further argues that ORS 197.480(5)(c) applies and is somehow violated by the 
manner in which the City is handling this application.  This ORS applies to Cities at the time the 
LUDC is being adopted or amended, and precludes the City from adding any new text to the 
LUDC that would preclude the development of a manufactured home park.  First of all, this is a 
quasi-judicial land use case, that does not involve adoption of any new code provisions.  As such, 
this ORS does not apply.  Secondly, the code as it currently exists contains no provisions that 
would preclude the development of a manufactured home park.  Indeed, staff is recommending 



Page 6 

that this proposed park be approved, thereby making it clear that the current LUDC is written in 
such a way as to not preclude manufactured home parks.   This argument has no merit and may 
be disregarded. 
 
Staff response to arguments related to the Needed Housing Act as to the recommended 
conditions are detailed below. 
 
4. Response to Objections to Conditions 5 and 6 
 
The applicant objects to Conditions #5 and #6 which together require the internal streets to have 
a minimum paved width of 32 feet, parking on one side, 5 foot sidewalks on both sides with a 4 
foot planter strip between the sidewalk and the street.  The applicant asserts the City is only 
allowed to mandate street standards for the first 100 feet from the public street as set forth in the 
OMDS, and has no authority for the remainder of the internal streets regardless of the text of the 
LUDC.  In addition, the applicant argues the City requirement for street improvements because it 
is not a clear and objective standard and that it adds unreasonable cost to the project. 
 
This is an application for a Site Plan and Conditional Use, and as such the City has the right to 
impose conditions of approval as described in the Staff Report.  There is nothing in the OMDS 
that prohibits the City from imposing reasonable safety conditions on this project, in the same 
manner these conditions would be imposed on a single family subdivision in the RR-10 zone.  
Staff has detailed its safety concerns with emergency vehicle conflicts, specifically that in the 
event of a fire there is a probability that fire vehicles would not be able to provide adequate 
response time, jeopardizing lives and property in the development. 
 
Staff further asserts that the OMDS is not as strictly applied as is argued by the applicant.  
Section 10-3. 1 provides that manufactured home parks must be designed “ to provide reasonable 
safeguards against fire” , and be arranged “ in a manner that does not prevent or restrict access by 
emergency equipment and personnel.”   It further provides that fire apparatus must be able to 
approach each manufactured dwelling to within 50 feet.  This language is consistent with the 
position taken by staff regarding street widths, and affirms the right of the City to impose safety 
conditions on the development to ensure fire equipment has access to put out fires. 
 
Staff believes the City’s conditional use and site plan criteria, as well as the City’s Transportation 
System Plan are clear and objective, and the conditions recommended by staff are also clearly 
stated and are objectively imposed based on the safety concerns expressed by staff who is an 
experienced fire professional. 
 
With regard to street width and parking, staff is recommending amendment of Condition #5 by 
adopting option 3 in the OMDS Table 10C that would require only 30 feet of street width instead 
of 32 feet. The requirement for parking on one side of the street remains. Staff asserts use of the 
OMDS option is implementation of a clear and objective standard. 
 
The proposed amended condition #5 is as follows: 
 



Page 7 

5. The applicant shall construct the first 100 feet of internal streets to city standards.  The 
applicant shall revise the site plan showing the remainder of the internal streets with a 
minimum paved width of 30 feet, allowing for parallel parking on one side of the street. 
Should the inclusion of these requirements significantly change the design of the project, 
the Planning Commission will be required to review the revised design using the site plan 
review process. 

 
As to the prior recommended condition regarding sidewalks, upon further research and 
consideration, staff is proposing to decrease the width of the required sidewalk to 4 feet, and only 
require a sidewalk on one side of the street. In addition, planting strips are not included in the 
OMDS, and add little to safety considerations and therefore are proposed to be eliminated. The 
pedestrian requirements to be followed are set forth in OMDS 10-5.4(a).  
 
The existing design submitted includes the required 4 foot sidewalk, and has it designed as street 
adjacent, which staff now believes to be appropriate.  Therefore, staff proposes to delete 
Condition #6 in its entirety as no longer needed. 
 
As with the other conditions, staff asserts this amended condition is clear and objective and 
involves no value laden judgments. The terms of the amended condition come from the OMDS 
and simply provide the width of the sidewalk and allow it to be adjacent to the pavement. 
 
Staff further asserts that the OMDS street and pedestrian requirements imposed here do not add 
an unreasonable cost to the project, and may actually enhance the value of the project in the long 
run. In any event, the burden of proving any argument about unreasonable costs lies with the 
applicant, and no evidence on what the additional cost might be, or why that additional cost 
would be unreasonable is made. Therefore, the argument is incomplete and may be denied. 
 
5. Response to Objection to Condition 7 
 
The applicant objects to Condition #7 that requires all street lighting to be shielded in order to 
prevent street lighting from shining into the surrounding neighborhood.  Applicant asserts that 
the OMDS prohibits the City from imposing any lighting conditions. 
 
Staff disagrees with the applicant.  OMDS Section 10-3.4 does provide requirements for internal 
illumination of the park, however there is nothing in that section that states these are the only 
requirements.  In fact, the illumination provisions deal only with safety considerations inside the 
park and never address the issue of street lights shining off-site into neighbors homes. 
 
Where the OMDS is silent on an issue, here off-site impacts of park illumination, the LUDC is 
authorized to fill in the void and impose lighting conditions that are not addressed in the OMDS.  
However, staff understands the requirement for shielding has little to do with health, safety or 
welfare for the surrounding area.  Staff is also concerned that the requirement for shielding from 
off-site illumination may not be sufficiently clear and objective to pass muster under the Needed 
Housing Act.  Therefore, based on these considerations, staff is recommending that Condition #7 
be deleted. 



Page 8 

 
6. Response to Objection to Conditions 8, 10 and 11 
 
The applicant objects to Conditions 8, 10 and 11 which requires sidewalks (already discussed 
above), as well as landscaping and irrigation plans, and specific requirement for a large sight 
obscuring tree to be placed on each space along the south and west borders in order to provide 
some sight obstruction buffering from the neighboring properties which are at a higher elevation. 
The applicant argues these conditions are not permitted, because the OMDS provides limits on 
what the City can impose, and that such requirements would not be imposed on a stick built 
subdivision in the RR-10 zone. 
 
To begin with, staff disagrees with the argument that the same landscaping and irrigation 
requirements would not be imposed on a stick built subdivision. Given the unique circumstances 
of this site, the same conditions would be recommended by staff regardless of the type of 
development proposed. Note that LUDC Section 5.134(1)a, b and f for single family 
developments mirror the requirements for manufactured home parks Section 6.165(10). See also 
that Section 5.134(9)(a)2 lists landscaping provisions for Manufactured Dwelling Parks and the 
types of trees are listed at the end of this section. 
 
The OMDS is silent as to irrigation, therefore the City may impose its own regulations so long as 
any condition would not be more stringent than what would be imposed on a stick built 
development. As already mentioned, irrigation is required in this type of housing development. 
For manufactured home parks, the requirement is set forth in LUDC 6.165(10). The ability of the 
City to condition its approval on the submission of an irrigation plan is stated in LUDC 6.165(6). 
 
The Staff Report goes into considerable detail regarding the recommended landscaping 
condition, specifically including the grade differential between this proposed development and 
the existing developments adjacent. The proposed condition is intended to mitigate adverse 
impacts on surrounding dwellings that are at the higher grade. The Planning Commission has the 
right to impose such condition under LUDC 6.165(6), and so long as the same requirement 
would be imposed on a stick built development (which staff asserts would be the case regardless 
of the type of dwelling proposed). 
 
As with the other objections, the applicant has simply objected, without demonstration of any 
harm, or the imposition of any unreasonable costs associated with compliance. As such the 
objection is incomplete. 
 
It must be noted that Condition 8 only requires the submission of plans, and does not specify the 
content of any required plans. Staff believes this is a standard requirement (ie submission of 
plans for review) and is clear and objective. 
 
With regard to Condition 10's requirement that irrigation be provided in the park for landscaped 
areas, staff asserts that condition is clear and objective. Further, it is a requirement of every 
development in the City. The requirement for irrigation of landscaped areas is obvious, in that it 
provides a better aesthetic and eliminates browned out vegetation that may be subject to fire 



Page 9 

hazards, or at a minimum provide fuel for a fire. Staff proposes amending Condition 10 to read 
as follows: 
 
10. The applicant’s detailed irrigation plan shall demonstrate conformance with LUDC 5.134. 
 
Note the elimination in Condition 10 of the landscape issue. Discussion of landscaping follows 
regarding Condition 11. 
As to landscaping requirements and Condition 11, staff’s further research would indicate that the 
existing language of proposed Condition 11 is most likely not in conformance with the clear and 
objective standards of the Needed Housing Act, and must be deleted in full. However, it is noted 
that the applicant’s plan submitted with the application (Sheet 5 of 9) shows landscaping, 
plantings and tree preservation on the site. Because the applicant is proposing these 
improvements, staff believes a replacement Condition 11 can be imposed in conformance with 
the Needed Housing Act requirements. However, the plan submission is not detailed enough for 
staff review, therefore the following replacement Condition 11 is recommended: 
 
11. The applicant shall submit a detailed landscaping plan in accordance with Sheet 5 of 9 of 

the submitted plans for staff review. Final construction of the project shall include the 
landscaping so proposed and approved by staff. 

 
Staff believes Conditions #8, 10 and 11 as amended here are lawful, and the applicant’s 
objections, incomplete as they are, may be denied. 
 
7. Response to Objection to Condition 13 
 
The applicant objects to Condition #13 which requires that stormwater from off-site that flows 
onto the subject property must be routed to an approved discharge point without adverse impacts 
to upstream or downstream properties.  The objection appears to be focused on detention on-site 
of the off-site flow.  That is not the purpose or intent of Condition #13, which is to focus on the 
routing of off-site flow through the subject property to its discharge point at Crooks Creek. 
 
Because the objection is misplaced, the City has the right to deny it.   
 
Further, the applicant alleges the off-site flow onto the subject property is illegal and should be 
routed elsewhere.  It is not within the purview of the City to judge the legality of the flow of 
stormwater.  That determination has to be made by a controlling state agency, or by the court.  
The applicant has submitted no evidence to this Record that the off-site flow is illegal or should 
be routed in a different direction, or how any such re-direction might occur given the lack of 
ability to deal with other properties that are not a part of this application.  Without such evidence, 
the City must deal with the facts as presented.  In this case, that is a recognition of the flow of 
off-site stormwater and the need to route it to the nearest natural drainage outlet, which is Crooks 
Creek, without doing any harm to other properties. 
 
Condition 13 requires routing of off-site stormwater to an approved discharge point and in a 
manner 



Page 10 

that will not adversely impact upstream or downstream properties. This condition is clear and 
objective and contains no value laden judgments. The condition is based on LUDC 5.126 which 
states: “The City will approve a development request only where adequate provisions for storm 
and flood water run-off have been made as determined by the City.”  LUDC 5.126(1). The details 
of development requirements are found in 5.126(7). The City has an obligation to ensure 
stormwater is appropriately routed over and across new development. In this instance, all the 
applicant has to do is provide the City with a drawing showing how off-site stormwater is routed 
to Crooks Creek, and provide calculations as to the volume and velocity of the flow in order to 
comply with LUDC 5.126. 
 
Were the City to ignore the fact that there is off-site stormwater coming into the new 
development, it is unknown what impacts that stormwater would have on the subject property or 
other surrounding properties, and that is not good government. It seems odd that the applicant 
objects to this condition, which actually is intended to ensure his property is not adversely 
impacted by off-site stormwater that is not appropriately routed. In addition, the applicant does 
not take into consideration the legal obligation of all property owners to allow the natural flow of 
stormwater to pass over and across their property. 
 
Staff believes Condition 13 does not violate the Needed Housing Act, and in fact is necessary for 
the health, safety and welfare of the properties and people affected by the flow of stormwater in 
this area. A simple engineering drawing and calculation is all that is needed here in order 
appropriately deal with off-site stormwater. The cost of such engineering is not burdensome, and 
most developers would have included this cost in the original cost of the development. 
 
8. Response to Objection to Condition 3 
 
The applicant objects to the fact that he will be required to commence construction of the park 
within one year of the date of final approval of the conditional use and site plan applications.  
Applicant alleges this condition is intended to discourage development of the park, and hence to 
discourage development of needed housing, yet he provides no evidence or argument as to why 
he cannot commence this project within the one year period. 
 
LUDC 1.130(11) requires all land use approvals granted by the City shall be completed within 
the time period specified, or within one year if not specified.  Condition #3 actually provides the 
applicant with more time than is standard in the City. 
 
The application here has detailed engineering already done, including the site plan, concrete 
details, water details, as well as some storm and sanitary details.  While there certainly will be a 
need for revisions given the conditions recommended here, those revisions will not be time 
consuming.  Unless there are hurdles the applicant is not divulging, staff believes the one year 
period for commencement of construction is sufficient. 
 
It must be remembered that this condition applies to “commencement”  of the project not 
completion of the project.  Construction is deemed to be commenced for compliance with 
Condition #3 when the construction plans are fully approved, and on-site activity has begun 



Page 11 

(such as earth moving, digging trenches for utilities, etc).  It is reasonable to believe that a 
developer can accomplish this much activity within one year of approval.   
 
Staff believes Condition #3 is reasonable, and the objection may be denied. 
 
5.  Conclusion 
Based on the original staff report, and the additional recommendations set out here, staff believes 
that if appropriately conditioned, the project satisfies the applicable criteria. Staff recommends 
the Planning Commission approve Application No .CUP 19-01 and SP 19-01 subject to the 
conditions of approval stated in the April 22, 2019 Staff Report, and as amended here. 
 
Staff’s amended recommendation for Conditions of Approval are as follows: 
 
1. This land use approval shall substantially comply with the submitted narrative and 

exhibits, except as indicated in the following conditions. Additional development or 
change of use may require a new development application and approval.  

 
2. This approval permits no more than 28 manufactured home sites on the project site. Any 

other business or change to this business, including more than 28 units, is not permitted.   
 
3. The project permitted by this approval shall commence within one year of approval or the 

permit is void. An extension of the permit may be granted through a new conditional use 
permit process.  

 
4. All manufactured units within the project shall be less than 10 years old at the time of 

installation and shall be only class A or B units. 
 
5. The applicant shall construct the first 100 feet of internal streets to city standards.  The 

applicant shall revise the site plan showing the remainder of the internal streets with a 
minimum paved width of 30 feet, allowing for parallel parking on one side of the street. 
Should the inclusion of these requirements significantly change the design of the project, 
the Planning Commission will be required to review the revised design using the site plan 
review process. 

 
6. Deleted. 
 
7. Deleted. 
 
8. Prior to application for a building permit, the applicant shall submit five copies of the 

following detailed plans: a legal survey, plans for placement of all new structures, water 
and sewer systems, utility easements, road, sidewalk, and patio construction, drainage 
system, including existing and proposed finished grades, recreational improvements and 
landscaping and irrigation plans.  

 



Page 12 

9. Prior to application for a building permit, the applicant shall submit for review and 
approval a trash collection plan.  

 
10. The applicant’s detailed irrigation plan shall demonstrate conformance with LUDC 5.134. 
 
11. The applicant shall submit a detailed landscaping plan in accordance with Sheet 5 of 9 of 

the submitted plans for staff review. Final construction of the project shall include the 
landscaping so proposed and approved by staff. 

 
12. LUDC Section 5.126(7) states, “Stormwater runoff rates for new developments shall not 

exceed bare land runoff rates”  and 5.126(7)(g) states, “Runoff from impervious surfaces 
must be collected and transported to a natural or public drainage facility with sufficient 
capacity to accept the discharge.”   

 
The Developer is required to provide a site-specific drainage plan, including means to 
detain peak flows so that runoff rates for the new development do not exceed bare land 
runoff rates, along with supporting calculations to collect, route, and discharge 
stormwater to an approved discharge point. The drainage plan must be approved by the 
City Engineer prior to issuance of building permits. The drainage plans shall conform to 
the Albany Engineering design standards, to the satisfaction of the City Engineer.  

 
13. Any offsite flows of stormwater onto the property are not subject to detention 

requirements, but must be appropriately routed to an approved discharge point without 
adverse impacts to upstream or downstream properties.  

 
14. Obtain a 1200-C Erosion Control Permit for all the disturbed ground, both on and off site 

that is in excess of one acre in addition to meeting all Albany Construction Standards 
(ACS). The applicant shall follow the latest requirements from DEQ for NPDES 1200-C 
Permit submittals. A copy of the approved and signed permit shall be provided to the City 
prior to any ground disturbing activities.  

 
15. Based on LOMR 11-10-0824P effective 10/12/2011, FEMA floodplain is shown 

extending into an area of the project site that is designed to be filled per the applicant’s 
proposed site plan.  The applicant’s figure Sheet 2 of 9 also shows the Special Flood 
Hazard Area (SFHA) of Zone AE extending into the site.  Therefore, Section 7.100 of the 
Land Use Development Code applies to this project, specifically 7.100(2)(d)2. The 
applicant must provide evidence that “all necessary permits have been obtained from 
those federal, state, or local governmental agencies from which prior approval is required, 
or that no permits are required for the fill that will be placed within the floodplain.”  

 
 
 
 



TO: Matt Straite, City Planner 

FROM: Janelle Booth, Millersburg City Engineer 

DATE: May 6, 2019 

SUBJECT: CUP 19-01 and SP-01 – Additional Engineering Comments 

 

In addition to the comments submitted on April 13, 2019, upon further review during the 
continuance period, Engineering has the following additional comments: 

 
1. Based on LOMR 11-10-0824P effective 10/12/2011, FEMA floodplain is shown 

extending into an area of the project site that is designed to be filled per the 
applicant’s proposed site plan.  The applicant’s figure Sheet 2 of 9 also shows the 
Special Flood Hazard Area (SFHA) of Zone AE extending into the site.  Therefore, 
Section 7.100 of the Land Use Development Code applies to this project, 
specifically 7.100(2)(d)2. The applicant must provide evidence that “all necessary 
permits have been obtained from those federal, state, or local governmental 
agencies from which prior approval is required, or that no permits are required for 
the fill that will be placed within the floodplain. 

2. Pursuant to the adopted Millersburg Land Development Standards for lot 
coverage, a condition of approval should be added to this project stating that 
the maximum coverage of impermeable surface on the parcel shall not exceed 
50%.  Prior to the issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit lot 
coverage calculations demonstrating 50% or less coverage with impermeable 
surfaces.  Impermeable surfaces include, but are not limited to, paving, concrete, 
and roofs.  Gravel surfacing is considered impermeable unless specifically 
designed and construction for infiltration as a permeable pavement system. 





Name Date submitted to the City Date/time on letter
City of Millersburg 4/29/2019 4/29/2019
Corbett Richards 4/29/2019 N/A
David and Valerie Phelps 4/29/2019 4/28/2019
Erin Brazel 4/29/2019 4/25/2019
Evening Star Draft CC&R's 4/29/2019 N/A
Mike Reeder (1) 4/29/2019 4/29/19 2:47pm
Mike Reeder (2) 4/29/2019 4/29/19 2:57pm
Mike Reeder (3) 4/29/2019 4/29/19 3:07pm
Mike Reeder (4) 4/29/2019 4/29/19 3:02pm
Nathaniel Van Nicholson 4/29/2019 4/26/2019
Neighborhood Petition 4/29/2019 N/A
Oregon Department of State Lands 4/25/2019 4/18/2019
Terrie Hill 4/29/2019 4/28/2019

Nathaniel Van Nicholson 5/3/2019 4/30/2019
Erin Brazel 5/6/2019 5/5/2019
Mike Reeder 5/6/2019 5/6/2019

Mike Reeder 5/13/2019 5/13/2019

CUP 19-01/SP 19-01 Letters submitted during the first seven day period ending April 29, 2019

CUP 19-01/SP 19-01 Letters submitted during the second  seven day period ending May 6, 2019

CUP 19-01/SP 19-01 Letters submitted during the second seven day period ending May 6, 2019





City Hall 
4222 NE Old Salem Road 
Albany OR 97321 
(541) 928-4523
After Hours: (541) 967-6264

City Hall Hours 
Monday-Friday, 8:00a-5:00p 

Website 
www.cityofmillersburg.org 

City Administration 
City Manager 
Kevin Kreitman 
kkreitman@cityofmillersburg.org 

Assistant City Manager / City 
Engineer 
Janelle Booth 
jbooth@cityofmillersburg.org 

City Recorder 
Kimberly Wollenburg 
kwollenb@cityofmillersburg.org 

City Council 
Mayor 
Jim Lepin 
jlepin@cityofmillersburg.org 

Council President Scott 
Cowen 
scowan@cityofmillersburg.org 

Councilor 
Dave Harms 
dharms@cityofmillersburg.org 

Councilor 
Scott McPhee 
smcphee@cityofmillersburg.org 

Councilor 
Don Miller 
dmiller@cityofmillersburg.org 

Fire Protection & Life Safety 
Albany Fire Department 
Emergency: 9-1-1 
Non-Emergency: (541) 917-7700 

Law Enforcement 
Linn County Sheriff 
Emergency: 9-1-1 
Non-Emergency: (541) 967-3913 

April 30, 2019 

On April 22, 2019 the Planning Commission granted a continuance 
request for the Evening Star Manufactured Home Park application 
(CUP 19-01/SP 19-01) to a date certain - May 21, 2019.  Pursuant to 
ORS Section 197.763 of the Oregon Rules and Statues, the record will 
be left open for three (3) seven (7) day periods.   

The first seven (7) day period runs from April 22, 2019 through April 29, 
2019 at 5pm.  This period is intended to allow anyone to 
submit additional evidence to the record.  All additional evidence 
that was submitted during this first seven (7) day period is posted 
below.   

The second seven (7) day period runs from April 23, 2019 through 
May 6, 2019 at 5pm.  This seven (7) day period is intended to allow 
any participant (meaning the applicant, anyone who spoke, or 
anyone who submitted a letter) to respond to new evidence that 
was submitted during the first seven (7) period.  New evidence 
should not be submitted during this period.  Letters submitted during 
this second seven (7) day period will be posted below on May 6, 
2019.   

A third seven (7) day period will run between May 7, 2019 and May 
13, 2019.  This period is intended to allow time for the applicant to 
submit final written arguments in support of the application.  No other 
parties are permitted to submit any additional evidence during this 
third seven (7) period. If applicant submits material, that will be 
posted below on May 13, 2019.

The hearing continued from April 22, 2019 will be held on May 21, 
2019 @ 6pm.

Matt Straite 
City Planner 
City of Millersburg 
541.928.4523 

mailto:kkreitman@cityofmillersburg.org
mailto:jbooth@cityofmillersburg.org
mailto:kwollenb@cityofmillersburg.org
mailto:jlepin@cityofmillersburg.org


















































































































































































































































































 

 

 

 

 
May 6, 2019 

Planning Commission 
City of Millersburg 
4222 NE Old Salem Road 
Albany, Oregon 97321 
 
 Re: Evening Star Manufactured Dwelling Park | CUP 19-01 & SP 19-01 
  Rebuttal Letter to Planning Commission 
 
Dear Planning Commissioners: 
 
 Please accept this letter as the Applicant’s rebuttal to the open record period comments 
received by the City from April 22, 2019 to April 29, 2019.   
 

I. Rebuttal of Mr. Kreitman Interoffice Memorandum 
 

Mr. Kreitman, City Manager for the City of Millersburg provided to the record a 
Interoffice Memorandum dated April 29, 2019 regarding the Applicant’s proposed street 
width.   

 
First, Mr. Kreitman claims that the Applicant “…recognizes that illegal parking is likely to 

occur…”  Mr. Kreitman is wrong.  My client’s illustration showing a fire truck and a parked car 
on one side of the private street is not an admission that he believes that illegal parking is likely 
to occur.  The illustration was meant to respond to City staff’s erroneous conclusion for sake 
of argument.  The illustration was meant to show that if illegal parking did occur, there would 
still be room for a standard sized fire truck (with mirrors extended) to navigate the private 
street unobstructed.  Mr. Kreitman’s mischaracterization of my client’s position perhaps was 
unintended, in which case, this simple explanation should suffice:  it is a common and wise 
practice to make alternative arguments.  In this case my client takes two, consistent positions: 
(1) it is unlikely that motor vehicles will illegally park on the private street, and (2) even if such 
illegal parking did occur and was not dealt with, the 20-foot wide street would still 
accommodate both a typical motor vehicle and a typical fire truck.  There is no inconsistency 
in these two positions.  It should also be noted that Mr. Kreitman does not address the fact 
that in addition to the 20-foot wide travel surface for motor vehicles, the proposal calls for a 
4-foot wide sidewalk for pedestrian travel, but which also provides additional room for 
emergency vehicles (if ever necessary).   

 



2  
Evening Star LLC 
May 6, 32019 
Rebuttal Letter to Planning Commission 

 

Second, Mr. Kreitman attempts to introduce evidence into the record to bolster staff’s 
claim that skinny streets impede emergency access and that illegal parking occurs.  However, 
this testimony is irrelevant as the State of Oregon has already determined that streets located 
in a Manufactured Dwelling Park (“MDP”), if they are designed for two-way traffic with no 
parking on either side, are sufficiently wide at 20 feet.  See Oregon Manufacture Dwelling and 
Park Specialty Code (“OMDPSC”) Table 10-C, “Minimum Pavement Widths.”  As noted at 
the public hearing, the OMDPSC is the controlling authority for the design and development 
of the of the streets within the MDP (except for the first 100 feet from the public right of 
way).  What the bulk of the documents provided by Mr. Kreitman actually illustrate is that 
policy considerations should be taken into account when a jurisdiction adopts street width 
standards.  The policy considerations for designing and constructing “skinny” streets should 
be weighed against the desire to accommodate public safety vehicles and apparatuses.  Each 
jurisdiction is free to make such policy choices for streets located outside of MDPs.1  This is 
an important policy debate2 to be sure, but this debate is not only unwise in a quasi-judicial 
permit application such as this, it is illegal.  The Application must be judged by the applicable 
criteria in effect at the time the Application was submitted.  ORS 227.178(3).3  The Application 
cannot be held to a standard that varies from the currently-applicable standards, no matter 
how strong desire by a former Albany Fire Chief turned Millersburg City Manager to do 
otherwise. 

 
Third, while Mr. Kreitman provided photos from 2000 of unidentified streets in typical 

single-family neighborhoods (vs. MDPs), the Applicant provided photos and testimony 
showing that three different MDPs in Albany do not have illegal on-street parking.  The 
Applicant’s evidence is much more relevant and current than Mr. Kreitman’s purported 
evidence.  In addition to the evidence of three MDPs in the Albany area that show no illegal, 
on-street parking, the Applicant provided to the record email hyperlinks to the Google Maps 
“street view” for each of those three MDPs also, which also shows no on-street parking in 
any of the three Albany MDPs.        
 
 Fourth, during the open record period, the Applicant provided an April 23, 2019 email 
from the Albany Deputy Fire Marshal, Lora Ratcliff, wherein she takes the position that, with 
three conditions, the proposed 20-foot wide private street would be satisfactory.  She states: 
 

“Fire’s comments were based on the basic site plan which showed just a few spaces for 
visitor parking and was based on first-hand experience/knowledge of the access 
constraints inherent with manufactured home parks.  The 20 foot unobstructed access 

                                                      
1 According to Appendix B “Oregon Community Street Widths” of the Neighborhood Street Design Guidelines: An Oregon Guide 
for Reducing Street Widths, November 2000, provided by Mr. Kreitman in the open record period, the City of Beaverton (at 
least as of February 2000) allowed 20-foot wide streets with no parking on either side.  The City of Eugene allowed 
“skinny” streets of 24 feet with parking on one side.   
2 Neighborhood Street Design Guidelines: An Oregon Guide for Reducing Street Widths, November 2000 states on page 2: “Narrow 
streets are less costly to develop and maintain and they present less impervious surface, reducing runoff and water quality problems.” 
3 ORS 227.178(3)(a), the “fixed goal post rule,” states: “If the application was complete when first submitted or the applicant submits 
the requested additional information within 180 days of the date of the application was first submitted…approval or denial of the application 
shall be based upon the standards and criteria that were applicable at the time the application was first submitted.” 



3  
Evening Star LLC 
May 6, 32019 
Rebuttal Letter to Planning Commission 

 

requirement is an absolute must and per our conversation this morning I see you have 
taken steps to ensure compliance: 

 
• NO PARKING restriction place on the entire access road 
• This NO PARKING restriction and towing capabilities written into the 

CC&R’s 
• Two parking spaces provide[d] on each lot 
 
I looked at three other similar sites in Albany, two of which are manufactured dwelling 
parks, which have no on-road parking and provided two parking spaces per lot.  These 
sites were clear of cars on the road and the access remained open.  They had varying 
widths ranging from 25’ to 28’.  It is my opinion that they would be just as successful 
with 20’, as you’re proposing.   
 
The comment in my original letter is still a valid concern – which you can demonstrate 
you’ll be mitigating with the bullet points above.  I want to keep the concern to show 
history as to why the need for the No Parking restriction and providing of two on-site 
parking spots per lot. 
 
Thank you for stopping in to speak with me and please call or email with any 
questions you may have.”   

 
 While Mr. Kreitman may have “concerns” about the 20-foot width, it is clear that, with 
the above-listed mitigation measures, Albany Fire Department believes that the proposed 20-
foot width for the private street is satisfactory.   
 
 Lastly, as discussed in my April 22, 2019 letter to the Planning Commission and in my 
oral comments at the April 22, 2019 public hearing, regardless of City staff’s “concerns” about 
the adequacy of the 20-foot wide private street, state law preempts any local standards, 
including staff’s proposed condition of approval that would obliterate the Application and 
preclude, for all practical purposes, the location of a MDP at this location.  Such a condition 
of approval violates the Needed Housing Statute and ORS 197.480(5)(c).4  
 

II. Rebuttal of Corbett Richards 
 

Corbett Richards provided an 11-page letter to the Planning Commission on April 29, 
2019 (the “Richards Letter”).  The Richards Letter makes many erroneous assertions that I 
will respond to below. 

 
First, the Richards Letter asserts that the Applicant does not need Planning 

Commission “approval to move forward with the project.”  While there is some merit to the question 
                                                      
4 ORS 197.480(5)(c) states: “No criteria or standards established under paragraph (a) of this subsection shall be adopted which would 
preclude the development of a mobile home or manufactured dwelling parks within the intent of ORS 197.295 to 197.490.”  



4  
Evening Star LLC 
May 6, 32019 
Rebuttal Letter to Planning Commission 

 

of whether the MDP must obtain discretionary land use approval from the City,5 I did not 
make that argument at the Planning Commission public hearing, nor did I make that argument 
in my April 22, 2019 letter.  The short version of my April 22, 2019 letter and my oral 
comments at the public hearing may be summarized thusly:  For MDPs proposed to be located 
in a zone that the local government imposes a conditional use permit requirement, to the 
extent that a CUP (or any other statutory permit such as site review) is ostensibly required, the 
City’s land use regulations must be clear and objective and may not have the effect of 
precluding the MDP nor have the effect of discouraging the development of the “needed 
housing” in the MDP through unreasonable cost or delay.  In other words, to the extend that 
a statutory permit is imposed on the Applicant by the City, the standards/criteria, conditions 
and procedure must be clear and objective and cannot prohibit or discourage the development 
of the MDP.  The Needed Housing Statute, Section 10 of the OMDPSC, and ORS 197.480(5), 
together, require the City to not apply any local comprehensive plan or zoning/development 
code provisions that would otherwise apply to development proposals in circumstances 
described above.  Chapter 10 of the OMDPSC controls and permits a very limited set of local 
standards to be imposed on an MDP.  This was exhaustively explained in my April 22, 2019 
letter. 

 
Second, the portion entitled “Part 1: Site Plan Review” of Richards Letter (page 1) goes 

to great lengths to suggest that Site Plan Review is appropriate in this case because, among 
other things, the site is “unusual” and abuts a “FEMA certified flood plain…and because [DSL] 
certified two areas within the southern property line as ‘wetlands’…”  However, regardless of whether 
the City is permitted to impose a Site Plan Review requirement on this Application, the City 
may only impose clear and objective standards and conditions as with the CUP application.  
This portion of the Richards Letter is therefore superfluous.  

 
Third, the portion entitled “Part 2: Department of State Land[s]” (page 3) DSL 

Concurrence Letter is irrelevant since the Oregon Department of State Lands (“DSL”) has 
provided the Applicant with its Concurrence Letter dated April 18, 2019 (“DSL Concurrence 
Letter”).  The Concurrence Letter determines the location of the jurisdictional wetlands as 
described by the Applicant’s consulting wetlands expert, Zion Natural Resources Consulting.  
There is no indication that the Applicant cannot develop the property as proposed by 
complying with the Oregon Removal-Fill Law.  The Richards Letter erroneously claims that 
my client cut down trees and implies that my client may have violated the Oregon Removal-
Fill Law.  This implication is totally false.  My client did not remove any trees, nor did he fill 
or remove any wetlands.  The rest of the Richards Letter is suspect based on this unfounded 
accusation.   

 
Lastly, the photos provided on page 6 of the Richards Letter are irrelevant since they 

do not depict the subject property, and as admitted by the Richards Letter itself, the water 
shown in these photos do not touch my client’s property.  

                                                      
5 See ORS 197.480(5), Multi/Tech Engineering Services, Inc. v. Josephine County, 37 Or LUBA 314 (1999) and Doob v. Josephine 
County, 39 Or LUBA 276 (2001). 



5  
Evening Star LLC 
May 6, 32019 
Rebuttal Letter to Planning Commission 

 

  
III. Rebuttal of David Phelps       

 
David Phelps provided to the record on April 29, 2019 a handwritten letter with 

attached photos dated April 28, 2019 (the “Phelps Letter”).  The Phelps Letter asserts that 
Phelps has “no intention of allowing an easement on this property.”  It is not clear why Phelps believes 
that the Applicant needs an “easement” from Phelps.  To be clear, the Application is not 
dependent on the Applicant obtaining any type of easement from Phelps.  As with the photos 
provided by Richards, the photos attached to the Phelps Letter are not photos of the subject 
property.    

 
IV. Rebuttal of Erin Brazel 

 
Erin Brezel provided a letter to the record on April 29, 2019 (the “Brezel Letter”).  The 

Brezel Letter attempts to paint the subject property as a special flood hazard area.  However, 
only a very small portion of the subject property in the southeast corner is in the flood plain 
and the Applicant is avoiding that area.  See Boatwright Engineering February 5, 2019 Sheet 
4 of 9 showing the precise location of the 100-year floodplain.   

 
In addition, the wetlands on the subject property are not “significant” wetlands.  The 

City of Millersburg does not identify any wetlands within the City as “significant” as the City 
has not gone through the Goal 5 Planning process for wetlands.  Lastly, the Brazel Letter 
suggests that the Applicant is seeking “variances” for conditions of approval.  To be clear, the 
Applicant is not requesting, nor is the Applicant required to obtain, any variances from the 
City. 
 

V. Rebuttal of Nathaniel J. Van Nicholson 
 
Nathaniel J. Van Nicholson provided a letter of opposition to the record on April 29, 

2019 (the “Van Nicholson Letter”).  The Van Nicholson Letter generally misunderstands the 
applicability of Comprehensive Plan policies to this Application.   
 

Next, the Van Nicholson Letter seems to suggest that my client is prohibited from 
mowing the subject property and cutting down and removing invasive species.  The Van 
Nicholson Letter is dead wrong.  It is not a violation of the Oregon Removal-Fill Law to mow 
a field or remove invasive species.  In order to trigger a requirement for a Removal-Fill permit, 
the activity must be located in a jurisdictional wetland and meet the definition of removal or 
fill.  Mowing the site and removing invasive vegetation does not meet the definition of 
“removal” or “fill”.    

 
The Van Nicholson Letter also suggests that the subject property is full of “natural 

vegetation.”  However, the subject property is infested with Himalayan blackberries (rubas 
armeniacus) which is classified as a “Class B” noxious weed by the Oregon Department of 
Agriculture.  My client cleared the subject property of weeds as is a customary and legal activity 



6  
Evening Star LLC 
May 6, 32019 
Rebuttal Letter to Planning Commission 

 

of a landowner as part of prudent land management.  To the extent that the Van Nicholson 
Letter suggests that my client removed trees or filled wetlands, it is in error.    

 
VI. Rebuttal of Terri Hill 

 
On April 29, 2019, Terrie Hill submitted a letter to the record on this matter (the “Hill 

Letter”).  The Hill Letter urges the City to “not allow an variances for this proposal…”  However, 
no variances are being sought and none are required.    

 
The Hill Letter also characterizes the project as “high density.”  However, the proposal 

is based on the density allowed in the current zoning and is identical to the zoning and 
development potential of the adjacent residential subdivisions.  Characterizing the project as 
“high density” is not only incorrect, but irrelevant. 

 
VII. Rebuttal of Petition 

 
The record includes 15 pages of names and signatures of people that signed a petition 

urging the Planning Commission to deny the Application (the “Petition”).  The Petition, makes 
unsubstantiated claims already discussed above.  Specifically, it states:  
 

“We ask the city to exercise their [sic] discretion to deny the project based on 
confliction with the City of Millersburg comprehensive plan, violation of Oregon State 
Statutes and Oregon Manufactured Dwelling and Park Specialty Code,…” 

 
First, a petition is not an appropriate method for a decision maker to analyze the project 

and make a quasi-judicial decision on a statutory permit such as this.  The ability to use one’s 
property is not subject to a vote of the general public.  This is not legislation.  Consideration 
of the merits of the Application is to be given based on the facts and the substantive law; it is 
not subject to the whims of the petitioners, regardless of how many petitioners are opposed 
to the project.  See generally, Fasano v. Board of County Commissioners of Washington County, 264 Or 
574 (1973).   

 
Second, the petitioners’ charges that the Application violates the comprehensive plan 

and the OMDPSC has already been discussed.  The Petition makes few factual assertions; it 
generally only makes blanket, undeveloped conclusions.  In order for the Planning 
Commission to give any merit to the Petition its arguments must be based on evidence for 
which a reasonable person would rely.  The Petition fails to do that.    
 

      Respectfully, 

      /s/Micheal M. Reeder 
 
      Micheal M. Reeder 





 

 

 

 

 
May 13, 2019 

Planning Commission 
City of Millersburg 
4222 NE Old Salem Road 
Albany, Oregon 97321 
 
 Re: Evening Star Manufactured Dwelling Park | CUP 19-01 & SP 19-01 
  Final Written Argument to Planning Commission 
 
Dear Planning Commissioners: 
 
 Please accept this letter as the Applicant’s final written argument to the Planning 
Commission regarding this Needed Housing Manufactured Dwelling Park CUP (the 
“Application”).   
 

I. Proposed Condition of Approval #5 – Expanding Street Width 
 

Proposed Condition #5 of the April 15, 2019 Staff Report (page 21) attempts to 
unilaterally revise the Application by proposing to the Planning Commission that it require 
the Applicant to revise the site plan showing all internal streets with a minimum curb to curb 
width of 32 feet, allowing parking on one side of the street.  

 
As discussed by me at length at the April 22, 2019 public hearing and in my April 22, 

2019 letter to the Planning Commission, this proposed condition of approval cannot be 
adopted.  To do so would be to violate the Needed Housing Statute (ORS 197.303-.307) and 
the Oregon Manufacture Dwelling and Park Specialty Code (“OMDPSC”).  These two state 
statues pre-empt any local legislation.  No party, including the two city attorneys who attended 
the April 22nd public hearing, have provided any legal rebuttal to this legal issue.  While the 
Applicant provided evidence into the record to show that Proposed Condition #5 is not 
merited from a factual/practical point of view, the fact remains that the state has preempted 
this issue of street width and adequate parking. 

 
If certain City staff and/or opponents to this Application do not like the fact that the 

state has provided uniform private street minimums and other standards not subject to local 
discretion their remedy is to seek redress in Salem and seek to have the laws regarding MDPs 
changed.  Likewise, if the City and/or opponents to this Application do not like the Needed 
Housing Statute as it applies in this case, they are free to lobby the Legislative Assembly.  They 
cannot however, change the current standards that are in place in order to fit their notions of 



Page 2 of 2 
Applicant Final Rebuttal 
Evening Star LLC 
May 13, 2019 
 
 

 

how things should be done without seeking such changes legislatively in Salem.  The ability to 
use one’s property is not subject to a vote of the general public.  The Application is not 
legislation – it is a statutory permit that is afforded the process for quasi-judicial acts.  
Consideration of the merits of the Application is to be given based on the facts and the 
substantive law as it currently exists; it is not subject to the whims of the petitioners, regardless 
of how many petitioners are opposed to the project.  See generally, Fasano v. Board of County 
Commissioners of Washington County, 264 Or 574 (1973).   

 
II. Proposed Condition of Approval #6 – Sidewalks & Planters Strips 

 
Proposed Condition #6 of the April 15, 2019 Staff Report (page 21) attempts to 

unilaterally revise the Application by proposing to the Planning Commission that it require 
the Applicant to revise the site plan to increase the amount of sidewalk from a 4-foot wide 
sidewalk on one side of the street to 5-foot wide sidewalks on both sides of the street.  
Additionally, the proposed condition of approval would impose a 4-foot wide planter strip 
separating the sidewalks from the curbs. 

 
This proposed condition of approval is surely an attempt to kill this project.  For the 

reasons discuss in response to Proposed Condition of Approval #5, this proposed condition 
of approval cannot be imposed on the Application.  It would fundamentally change the 
Application.  It would be a new application.  It would also violate the Needed Housing Statute 
and Chapter 10 of the OMDPSC.  Such overreach by staff would likely kill any MDP, not just 
this one.  Simply put, MDPs are not designed to accommodate such intensive transportation 
facilities internally because such infrastructure is unnecessary and cost-prohibitive.  Such an 
imposition violates the Needed Housing Statute.     
 

III. All Other Objections & Arguments 
 

In addition to the above-discussed proposed conditions of approval, the Applicant 
reaffirms its objections to the other proposed conditions of approval and attempts by 
neighbors to stop this proposal.  Simply put, the City staff and neighborhood objections 
cannot be sustained and the Application must be approved pursuant to state law. 

      Respectfully, 

      /s/Micheal M. Reeder 
 
      Micheal M. Reeder 

 




	A_Planning Commission Meeting Agenda_5-21-2019
	D_1_i_Draft_Planning Commission Meeting Minutes_04-16-2019_kw
	D_1_ii_Draft_Planning Commission Meeting Minutes_04-22-2019_kw
	D_1_iii_Draft_Planning Commission Work Session Minutes_04-29-2019_kw
	D_1_iv_Draft_Planning Commission Work Session Minutes_05-13-2019
	E_1_1_Staff Response Memo - May 15 2019
	Procedural Error
	Inter-relationship between the LUDC and the Specialty Code
	Applicability of the Needed Housing Act
	Response to Objections to Conditions 5 and 6
	Response to Objection to Condition 7
	Response to Objection to Conditions 8, 10 and 11
	Response to Objection to Condition 13
	Response to Objection to Condition 3

	E_1_2_Engineering Conditions of Approval_CUP 19-01 and SP-01_additional 5-6-19
	E_1_3_Letters submitted during continuance
	Sheet1

	E_1_4-29-19 Combined
	1_Memo
	City Hall
	Monday-Friday, 8:00a-5:00p
	Website
	www.cityofmillersburg.org
	City Administration
	City Manager
	Assistant City Manager / City Engineer
	City Recorder

	City Council
	Mayor
	Councilor
	Councilor
	Councilor

	Fire Protection & Life Safety
	Albany Fire Department
	Law Enforcement
	Linn County Sheriff

	04-25-19 DSL
	04-29-19 City of Millersburg
	04-29-19 Corbett Richards
	04-29-19 David and Valerie Phelps
	04-29-19 Erin Brazel
	04-29-19 Evening Star Draft CC&R's
	04-29-19 Mike Reeder (1)
	04-29-19 Mike Reeder (2)
	04-29-19 Mike Reeder (3)
	04-29-19 Mike Reeder (4)
	04-29-19 Nathaniel Van Nicholson
	04-29-19 Neighborhood Petition
	04-29-19 Terrie Hill
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page

	E_1_5-6-19 Combined
	05-03-19 Nathaniel Van Nicholson
	05-06-19 Erin Brazel
	05-06-19 Mike Reeder
	Blank Page
	Blank Page

	E_1_5-13-19 Reeder to PC - Applicant Final Argument
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page



